Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting: A Comprehensive Review and Applications

J. Roberto Andrade - s4741811^{1, a)}

j.r.andrade.aguirre@student.rug.nl - University of Groningen (Dated: 23 April 2022)

Abstract

This paper presents an overall review of Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting, starting with the importance of the abundance of mechanical energy that can be harvested into electrical energy, and how piezoelectric materials can be part of this achievement. A clear description of the piezoelectric phenomenon is intended to be described, with the different structural configuration that piezoelectric energy harvesting gives. An elaborate information about the different piezoelectric materials that we can find nowadays is covered, intending to present a wide overview about the actual status of piezoelectric materials. The many applications that piezoelectric energy harvesting can have are considered in almost all possible fields, giving a clear perspective of the present and future areas where mechanical energy can be harvested by piezoelectric materials. This work reviews recent literature in the field of power harvesting and provides the current status of energy harvesting and the multiples options where this can be applied.

CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION	1
II.	MECHANICAL ENERGY	
	HARVESTING	2
	A. Piezoelectric Effect	3
	B. Geometrical Configuration of	
	Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting	4
III.	PIEZOELECTRIC MATERIALS	4
	A. Organic Materials	5
	B. Inorganic Materials	5
	C. Composite Materials	5
	D. Bio-inspired Materials	6
IV.	APPLICATIONS	6
	A. Transportation	6
	B. Vehicles	7
	C. Aerial Applications	7
	D. In-water Applications	8
	E. Smart Home	8
	F. Body movement	8
	G. Self-Powered Biomedical Devices	9

V. CONCLUDING REMARKS

9

I. INTRODUCTION

Energy harvesting technology is a promising solution for energy crisis of non-renewable sources. Different types of renewable energy coming from the ambient environment, such as electromagnetic radiation in the form of light, vibrations, heat, wind, and even water, can be harvested into electrical energy that can be used in many applications 1,2 . Lately, harvesting energy from vibrations with the help of piezoelectric materials has been a major topic of research, combining with the big advancements in wireless communication, low-power integrated circuits, and some mobile electronics where these require a relative low power demand in consumption 2,3 . Mechanical energy is the most omnipresent energy that can be harvested into electrical power, while piezoelectric materials are one of the most convenient materials classes for the harvesting of energy from vibrations, since the piezoelectric effect is based only on the intrinsic polarization of the material. Because of that, compared to other mechanical energy harvesting methods, piezoelectric generators are durable¹, more

a)Zernike Institute of Advance Materials

sensitive to small strains, and exhibit higher density power output and high voltage $output^{4,5}$. In addition, piezoelectric materials can be flexible and stretchable devices, and for some devices can be easy to work on the nanoscale, which give us the opportunity to expand the field of applications 2,6 . Normally, an energy harvesting system contain 3 parts: the energy source, the harvesting mechanism, and the load (the consumption or storage of the electrical output energy) 8,9 . One example of the many mechanical energy sources that we have in the nature, is human body, which provides a variety of systems where mechanical energy is implied, allowing for some energy harvester to be integrated into daily human activities. Some examples of human power that can be harvested are the approximate 10 mW that can be obtained from the motion of the upper limbs, 1 mW from typing motion, and walking can go up to 1 W¹⁰. In figure 1 we can observe a schematic representation of some examples of mechanical energy sources, where a harvesting method can be applied to obtain electrical energy. This electrical energy can be used to power devices in current or future applications, where some devices can consume less power and the use of energy harvesting will become more ubiquitous.

The efficiency of energy harvesting can be calculated by the ratio between the power consumed on the external load resistance and the total input mechanical power. Mechanical energy E_m , electrical energy E_e , and energy conversion efficiency E%are defined with the equations:

$$E_m = \int_0^{\Delta t} Fd(t) dt \tag{1}$$

$$E_e = P\Delta t = \frac{V^2}{R}\Delta t \tag{2}$$

$$E_{\%} = \frac{E_e}{E_m} \tag{3}$$

where *F* is the applied force, *d* the distance of the movement induced by the applied force, Δt is the time in which the motion is generated, *P* is the output power, *V* the output voltage, and *R* is the resistive load that is applied to the harvester^{8,11}.

In this work, we are going to provide a comprehensive review of the state of piezoelectric energy harvesting technology, aimed to discuss and compile the recent literature about materials and applications of piezoelectronic systems. Starting with the general description of mechanical energy harvesting and the analysis of the phenomena behind piezoelectricity, described in section II. Next, detailed information about the different piezoelectric materials that we can find are going to be covered in section III, where we will discuss the different properties of having organic, inorganic, composite and bio-inspired piezoelectric materials. Important applications are discussed in section IV and we conclude with some conclusion and remarks.

II. MECHANICAL ENERGY HARVESTING

In our environment, several sources of energies are available that can be scavenged (e.g., vibration, wind, solar, radio frequency, etc) and generate electrical power through different harvesting mechanism, which differ depending of the energy source¹². There are many sources of mechanical energy in the environment, and that is the reason why the number of Mechanical Energy Harvesting (MEH) systems has increased in the past years^{12,13}. In general, MEH are commonly classified according to their transduction type, applications and structures¹⁴. The harvested power density is related mainly to the motion frequency and its magnitude, described by¹⁵:

$$P_{res} = 4\pi^3 m f_{res}^3 Z_{max} A \tag{4}$$

where m and Z_{max} are the inertial mass of the harvester and its maximum displacement respectively, f_{res} is the resonance frequency, and y is the amplitude vibration. The resonance frequency is the natural frequency of the system, where at this frequency the object will oscillate at the highest amplitude. This frequency depends on the material composition, shape, volume, and even the addition of a mass, therefore is a parameter that can be controlled¹⁶. Different activities like walking/running and other human motion can generate mechanical energy at a rate of 5 - 15 Hz, automobiles vibrations 50 Hz, and other elements even more¹⁷. There are three main transduction mechanism for mechanical energy harvesting: Piezoelectric, electromagnetic, and electrostatic¹⁸. In this



FIG. 1. Example of some mechanical energy sources that can be harvested by piezoelectric materials and used in some potential applications. Figure adapted from⁷.

work we aim to give a general review of the piezoelectric effect, described below.

A. Piezoelectric Effect

In 1880 Pierre and Jacques Curie discovered the piezoelectric effect, where piezoelectricity is a word with Greek origin, which means "press or squeeze"¹⁹. It is defined as the ability of specific materials to transform an applied mechanical stress into electric potential 20 . There are two types of piezoelectric effect: direct piezoelectric effect and converse piezoelectric effect. The former generates electric charge under the effect of applied pressure, the latter induces mechanical strain due to an applied electric field^{21,22}. Depending the applications, both effects are very useful, for example the direct effect is used for sensors and energy transducers, while the converse effect is used in actuator 5,23. The equations that describe direct and converse piezoelectric effects are:

$$D = dT + \varepsilon E$$
 (Direct effect) (5)

$$X = sT + dE$$
 (Converse effect) (6)

where D corresponds to the electrical displacement, d piezoelectric coefficient, s the mechanical compliance, ε is the permittivity of the material, E the electric field, X the strain, and T is the stress²³. With the equations defined above, we can talk about the figure of merit (FoM) of piezoelectric energy harvesting system, where FoM is proportional to the square of the piezoelectric coefficient d^2 and inversely proportional to the dielectric permittivity ε^{24} . The crystalline orientation makes the parameters mentioned above have different components, because these parameters act as vectors and tensors. In general, piezoelectric materials for energy harvesting are crystals that present a well-defined polar axis and, therefore, the energy harvesting performance the direction of the applied stress relative to the polar $axis^{25}$. The polar axis is referred as the "3" direction and, due to symmetry, other directions at right angles to the polar axis can be referred to the "1" directions. In these directions the stress is applied, resulting in two common Piezoelectric energy harvesting (PEH) configurations, 33-mode and 31-mode²⁶. In figure 2 we can observe a schematic representation of the 33-mode and 31-mode.



FIG. 2. Piezoelectric vibrational modes. Figure adapted from²⁷.

B. Geometrical Configuration of Piezoelectric Energy Harvesting

There are different types of piezoelectric transducers: Cantilever Beam, Circular Diaphragm, Cymbal type, and Stack type. Each one present their own features and advantages for a specific scenario²⁸. In the same way, disadvantages are visible and always present for each type of harvester. For example, normally for vibration energy harvesting one of the most studied piezoelectric structures are unimorph and bimorph cantilever configurations, obtaining high power efficiency^{28,29}. A schematic representation of the cantilever beam configurations can be observed in figure 3. The cantilever beam configuration is one of the most common due to the high mechanical strain during vibration. A cantilever made of a thin layer of piezoelectric material, bonded to a non-piezoelectric layer that act as a conductor for the produced charge 30 . Figure 3a shows a unimorph device, whereas 3b contain two layers of piezoelectric material and is known as bimorph structure. Unimorph generates highest power at low load resistances and excitation frequencies, while bimorph devices generates higher power at medium and high load resistances and frequencies³¹. The bimorph structure doubles the energy capacity without a significant increase in volume of the device, therefore, this latter type is more used for some piezoelectric energy harvesting systems²⁶. A proof mass is normally attached to a free end of the cantilever (Figure 3c)), in order to adjust the resonant frequency of the system, giving rise to the fact that the energy output mainly depends on the proof mass subjected to the mechanical stress^{32,33} As the stress applied for a 31mode configuration is not along the polar axis, the 33-mode is, therefore, larger for a given material. Therefore if we use an interdigitated electrode (Figure 3d)) in 33-mode, a higher energy production can be achieved³⁴. In this design, alternate layers of positive and negative electrodes are placed on the surface of the piezoelectric layer. These electrodes direct the electric field laterally in the layer, making the layer polarized in the lateral direction, such that the stress that is applied to the layer is parallel to the polar axis of the piezoelectric, enabling the primary charge constant 33-mode^{30,32}.



FIG. 3. Example of cantilever beam transducer. a) unimorph cantilever; b) bimorph; c) cantilever with mass at its free end; d) cantilever with interdigitated electrodes. Figure adapted from³⁵.

III. PIEZOELECTRIC MATERIALS

The performance of a PEH system is mostly influenced by the type of material selected for such system. Piezoelectric materials must not have a

center of symmetry, which means that when applying stress a net polarization is produced, having a voltage difference between the two surfaces of the crystal where the stress is applied³⁶. A wide range of materials including organic, inorganic, composites and bio-inspired materials have been investigated for piezoelectric energy harvesting³⁷. It is important to highlight that some factors that affect the properties of piezoelectric materials are the strain constant, induced polarization, voltage constant, dielectric constant, electromechanical coupling factor, among others. When choosing a piezoelectric material, we have to look not only on the properties mentioned above, but also other parameters like application frequency, design flexibility, availability³⁸. Often single crystals (such quartz) present high acoustic quality, can cost more than some piezoceramic materials, which produce a larger piezoelectric response but the display limited resolution of the oscillating frequency. Nevertheless, one of the most common used material is found to be lead-based, but due to the toxicity of lead, this material has been replaced for leadfree like $BaTiO_3^{12,39}$. Here, we are going to classify piezoelectric materials in four different classes: Organic materials, Inorganic materials, Composite, and bio-inspired piezoelectric materials.

A. Organic Materials

Organic materials are characterized for their abilities of being flexible, durable and easy to process 40 . Normally, organic piezoelectric materials are classified into organic piezoelectric and traditional piezoelectric polymers. In general, organic piezoelectric materials present a good number of advantages, such as a relative easy synthesis process, structural diversity, dipolar orientation, intrinsic dipole moment, improved biodegradability, which give an improved electromechanical behavior⁴¹. Although the piezoelectric coefficient d in polymers is lower than for some ferroelectric ceramics, polymers present a relative low permittivity, which makes them to have an acceptable FoM to work with⁴². One of the most studied piezoelectric polymer material, include poly(vinylidene fluoride) (PVDF). These organic piezoelectric polymers present two main types, semicrystalline (the majority) and amorphous polymers⁴³. Amorphous polymer chains present a glass transition property that may affect d_{ij} , making these polymer chains responsible for the piezoelectric effect⁴⁴. In the case of organic piezoelectric materials, they are attractive due to their light-weight nature, low-cost, mechanical flexibility, and environmental friendly, which can be used for flexible and sensor-electronic device⁴⁵.

B. Inorganic Materials

Many natural materials like quartz, exhibit a specific crystalline structure that favours the piezoelectricity effect¹. Perovskite structures are one of the most commonly system that posses piezoelectric effect, which present a prominent piezoceramic crystal structure with very good performance. In this structure, there are various ferroelectrically-active non-cubic phases due to the fact that a cubic phase at a low temperature can be easily distorted and present highly symmetrically distributed atoms that allow the deformation of the unit cell easily, which does not contain an inversion center, and therefore can be highly piezoelectric.^{46,47}. In the 20^{th} century, the first piezoelectric ceramic, BaTiO₃ (BT) was discovered⁴⁸. After observing that the polycrystalline material can hold permanently piezoelectric behaviour after applying an electric field, several efforts were devoted to fabricating highperformance piezoelectric generators⁴⁹. Takahashi et al.⁵⁰ fabricated high-density and nano-domain BT that presented a dielectric constant of 4200, and piezoelectric constant $d_{33} = 350 \text{ pC/N}^{51}$.

C. Composite Materials

Composite piezoelectronic materials are developed to overcome pure ceramic and polymer materials limitations⁵². Piezoelectric ceramics present an outstanding performance, but their intrinsic brittleness limits their application when we need flexible devices. On the other hand, piezoelectric polymers present high flexibility but poor piezoelectric properties which limits the applications in high energy density^{53,54}. For example, lead zirconate-lead

titanate (PTZ) present a high performance in piezoelectric characteristics, with high charge coefficient in the 33-mode, but the applications are very limited due to the stiffness of the material⁵⁵. However, a composite of PZT/PVDF present similar flexibility than a pure PVDF but a greater piezoelectric coefficient than the natural PVDF⁵⁶. Siddiqui et al.⁵⁷ developed a piezoelectric nanocomposite based on BT nanoparticles that are embedded into a highly crystalline PVDF-PTrFE. The highly crystalline properties of the composite was because of the polymer, and the high piezoelectricity because of the BT nanoparticles, reaching an output voltage of 9.8 V and output power density of 13.5 μ W/cm². A general review of piezoelectric composites for energy harvesting applications can be observed by Mishra et al.²⁶

D. Bio-inspired Materials

Natural biological materials like sugar cane, cellulose, collagen fibrils, bones, hair, etc. can present piezoelectric properties². Besides this, biomaterials generally present a non-toxic, biodegradable and biocompatible nature, which make bio-inspired piezoelectric materials an optimistic alternative for harvesting energy⁵⁸. A large natural polymer that exhibits high piezoelectric coefficient (26-60 pC/N) is cellulose, which also present biocompatible and biodegradable characteristics⁵⁹. Another example is a bio-waste eggshell membrane that was proposed as a piezoelectric material by Karan et al.⁶⁰, which exhibit a piezoelectric coefficient of 23.7 pC/N. This piezoelectric nanogenerator has an output voltage of 26.4 V, converting 63% of the energy. The system can be enhanced by the series and parallel connection of five nanogenerators that can light up to 90 LEDs.

IV. APPLICATIONS

The continuous progress in the research of nanomaterials, allowed to develop a large number of piezoelectric generators, which can be designed according the necessity on the field, from materials with high flexibility, durability, stretch-ability, high performance, biocompatibility, etc.⁶¹. In this section, we are going to give a general overview of the application of piezoelectric energy harvesting, covering a wide area of studies of energy harvesting at nano and mesoscale, allowing to work in applications at nanoscale like nanosensors or in mesoscale like roads which can give a large amount of energy harvested. Many areas like transportation, in water applications, aerial applications, biomedicals, wearable, implantable electronic and others are going to be discussed to give a broad scope of the application of piezoelectric generators.

A. Transportation

When we talk about transportation, there exist several areas where piezoelectric materials can work for the harvesting of energy. For example, Li et al.⁶¹ tested the piezoelectricity generating capacity of road pavement, with a tracking wheelpressure. He found that a voltage of 65 V can be achieved, 0.8 kW/h electric capacity can be produced and this would be sufficient to power some traffic signal lights or others. In Israel, Innowattech company uses piezoelectric elements on asphalt, to harvest the ambient vibrational energy from the traffic⁶². Regarding the application in pavements, the analysis has been divided into mathematical analysis⁶³, laboratory test⁶⁴, numerical simulations⁶⁵, and field tests⁶⁶. In the same way, there exist many other areas where mechanical energy can be absorbed and converted into electrical energy such as rails, speed bump, bridges, and of course vehicles that contain several parts⁶⁷.

Rail Ways

A piezoelectric generator to harvest rail-borne energy of rail system, has been considered by Gao et al.⁶⁸. In the experiment, they simulated the normal conditions of the rail system, achieving a 4.9 mW output power and 22.1 V output voltage with a 100 k Ω load impedance. There are several works related to the research on energy harvesting in railway systems using piezoelectric technology⁶⁹.

Bridges

When vehicles pass through a bridge, there is vibrational energy that can be converted into electrical power by energy harvesters. Karimi et al.⁷⁰ developed a cantilever beam type to harvest energy from bridge vibrations. It was found that the optimal load resistance at 13.5 Hz as the frequency of the generator, was 200 k Ω , which gives a maximum power of around 35 μ W. It was determined that the generated power output using piezoelectric energy harvesters, is usually low for a individual piezoelectric transducer when one vehicle goes through the bridge, therefore to have a reliable and efficient methodology, multiple sensor arrays must be arranged under repeated traffic loading⁷¹.

Speed Bumps

Piezoelectric energy harvester can be installed inside speed bumps to convert the kinetic energy generated by the traffic passing over the speed bump. Chen et al.⁷² installed a harvester inside of a speed bump, consisting of 48 piezoelectric unimorph cantilevers, a platform with 48 bar, 3 springs, and a spring substrate (e). The efficiency of the energy harvesting circuit was 74%. A general overview of energy harvesting implying speed bumps can be observed by Castillo-Garcia et al.⁷³.

B. Vehicles

There is a big portion of the fuel energy that is lost in the form of heat and mechanical energy when a car is overcoming the resistance from friction and air⁶⁷. This mechanical energy can be extracted from many parts such tires, engine, suspensions, and converting it into electrical energy that could power sensors improving the autonomy and efficiency of the vehicle, and at the same time decreasing economic and environmental cost⁷⁴.

Engine

Internal combustion engines produce torsional vibration that can be harvested by piezoelectric generators and produce electric power. From a cantilever beam attached to the surface of a rotating shaft can generate around 14 μ W electrical power,

Tires

The necessity of having a sensor mounted on a tire is gradually increasing since tires are one of the most important components for driving safety⁷⁶. Esmaeeli et al.⁷⁷ used a rainbow-shaped piezoelectric energy harvester on the inner layer of a pneumatic tire, powering a tire pressure monitoring system, therefore overcoming associated problems to the use of batteries for powering this sensors. Lee et al.⁷⁸ developed a energy harvesting system in the tire of a car using piezoelectric material. They applied the system to a Hyundai motor, generating 380.2 μ J and storing 34.5 μ J, which correspond to a storage efficiency of 9.07%. The power obtained from the energy harvester proposed in the study was 1.37 μ W/mm³, which has been optimized and can be improved by the reduce of leakage of capacitors, impedance matching and others⁷⁹.

Suspension

Suspension system is one of the most important components for traveling on vehicles, if you want the minimum disturbance generated by road irregularities, braking and accelerating forces, centrifugal forces on turns and others⁸⁰. Xie and Wang⁷⁴ worked on a mathematical model for a piezoelectric bar generator that absorbs vibration and motion energy from the suspension system. The output power that the model can reach is up to 738 W, with a piezoelectric bar of 1.5 cm and 10 cm of width and height respectively.

C. Aerial Applications

Wind is a good source of energy supply for many characteristics, like clean and environmentally preferable⁸¹. Many of the energy that can be harvested from wind, can be found in low scale for self-power some electronic devices, or in big scale taking advantage of the environment⁸². Wu et al.⁸³ used an effective wind energy cantilever subjected for harvesting cross wind, obtaining an energy output up to 2 W by manipulating the resonant frequency of the harvester with mass on the tip. Xie et al.⁸⁴ worked on a piezoelectric energy harvester in high-rise buildings, taking advantage of the large vibrations produced by wind, reaching to a power up to 432.2 MW. Petrini and Gkoumas⁸⁵ developed a piezoelectric generator that harvested energy from flow-induced vibrations inside of a heating, ventilation and air conditioning system. The material was capable to power a humidity and temperature sensor, and depending of the aerodynamics of the fin, the output power that are in the range of 200-400 μ W, which is sufficient to power the temperature sensor. Several methods of piezoelectric wind energy harvesting and applications are discussed by Zhao and Yang⁸⁶.

D. In-water Applications

We know that the majority of the earth's surface is covered by water, which makes energy harvesting from fluid an attractive field. Wang et al.⁸⁷ have studied a hydraulic pressure system that works with fluctuations as sources of energy for harvesting with piezoelectric materials. The ocean provides a continuous flows of large mass of water, which the breaking wave force can be harvested by piezoelectric materials, and is predicted to provide around 885 TWh of electrical power⁸⁸. Another in-water application is fish-tags, which can study the migration patterns and movements of some fish species, by implanting a sensor tag, which will be wireless communicated and powered by the energy harvesting of the fish swimming⁸⁹.

Viet et al.⁹⁰ designed a model to harvest energy from water waves with a floating energy harvester using piezoelectric effect. Their simulation showed that for a 2 m wave amplitude and 6 s period, the power harvested can be up to 103 W.

E. Smart Home

Nowadays, there is more and more implementation of technology at houses or buildings, in order to achieve a smart environment that can make the place more efficient. A clear example can be harvesting energy from steps by inserting piezoelectric generators into the floor. Puscasu et al.⁹¹ harvested energy from steps by piezoelectric generators. They used a 50 x 50 cm² energy-harvesting tile, which generates 2.4 mJ energy per step, even having an outstanding 10 million compression cycles before any decay in the performance. Heel-strike energy harvesting showed that a person walking at a 2 steps per second, generates 67 W of power, which can be harvested as electrical power of 5 W⁹². Kim et al.⁹³ developed a floor tile that exhibited an output voltage of 42 V and a current of 52 μ A, which successfully operated a wireless transmitter sensor node.

F. Body movement

Generally, human body movements can result in two kinds of mechanical energy that can be scavenged. One is the continuous activities such as breathing and heart beating, while the other is related to discontinuous movements, like walking and joint movements⁹⁴. An advantage of using piezoelectric materials, is that they have the ability to directly convert mechanical energy from human motion, into electrical signals without any external input⁹⁵. Body joints contain high motion amplitude, large impulse force, fast angular velocity, and high frequency that are used daily in human activities⁹⁶. The knee is one of the joint that produces the highest biomechanical energy since it has the largest torque in comparison to other joints, and a plucking-based harvester, can scavenge rotational energy from the knee during a normal walk, achieving output power of 17 mW⁹⁷. The recent advances in piezoelectric energy harvesting, have allowed to start applications of harvesting energy from the movement of the human body, that can power autonomous wearable devices 98 . The human body is full of movements that involve mechanical energy, attaching piezoelectric generators to different part of the body. Kim et al.⁹⁹ designed a piezoelectric generator that can produce a peak output voltage and output power of 22 V and 40 μ W respectively, under periodic mechanical push force. Depending of the area where the device is attached, and the different human movements, it generates different quantities of energy, for instance on the foot can generate 2.5 V, 1.98 V on the elbow, and 1.05 V on the knee.

Walking activity

The process of walking can produce the largest amount of power in comparison with other human motions, a 68 kg man is able to generate 67 W when walking at a speed of two steps per seconds^{100,101}. Qian et al.¹⁰² developed a a two-stage force-amplification mechanism, which was able to achieve an average output power of 11.0 mW for a frequency of 1.0 Hz. The peak of the output power was 31.7 mW.

Upper limb movements

The upper limb is an attractive location to generate energy for fast battery charging needs or selfpower devices. Upper limb are involved in many activities like housekeeping, playing instruments, sports or even working with computers¹⁰⁰. During normal walk, the arms generally swing back and forth, with a certain bending which suggest that it generates high mechanical energy. Li et al.¹⁰³ designed a wearable vertical vibration device, to generate electricity from the joint in the elbow. The joint rotation allowed the release and pull cycle, where the ultra low frequency limb movements, can result in high resonance up to hundreds of Hz. A peak voltage of 7.5 V and a maximum output power of 0.457 μ W were obtained at maximum movement conditions.

Composite materials are one of the most used materials to achieve high power density for harvester from the hand and wrist. Polymers with good flexibility are more suited to harvest on the arm and shoulder, because they allow a larger range of stretching motions¹⁰⁴.

G. Self-Powered Biomedical Devices

Biomedical devices are increasingly needed due to advances in technology and the many applications they can have, which can serve as diagnostic tools or treatments for any health issues, improving human life quality¹⁰⁵. Recent innovations has lead to develop biomedical devices like cardiac pacemakers, cardiac monitors, cardioverter defibrillators, artificial retinas, and cochlear implants¹⁰⁶. Piezoelectric energy harvesting is an ideal alternative when we talk about the use of this biomed-

For example, cardiac energy harvesting have been developed in power pacemakers in order to replace the batteries¹⁰⁶. Heartbeat vibrations can power a pacemaker using a fan-folded piezoelectric structure, having several piezoelectric beams stacked, generating more than 10 μ W of power, sufficient to power the pacemaker¹⁰⁹. Likewise, Zhang et al.¹⁰⁷ developed a pulsating energy of ascending aorta using a piezoelectric generator based on PVDF film. The generator could reach a maximum output voltage of 1.5 V and current of 300 nA with a blood pressure of 160/105 mmHg, which is sufficient to charge a 1 μ F capacitor to 1.0 V. An updated review about the state of energy harvesters for wearable electronics and biomedical devices can be seen by Hasan et al.¹¹⁰.

V. CONCLUDING REMARKS

In this paper, we presented a general overview of the status of piezoelectric energy harvesting, reviewing the principles of the piezoelectric effect, the characteristics of different system configurations energy harvesting, and different applications. Piezoelectric materials provide a ubiquitous alternative to other forms of energy harvesting from the environment. In general, organic, inorganic and composite materials are employed with the different structure configurations presented here, being the 33-mode with cantilever beam structure one of the most used. Current progress in this field, allow to the development of new energy harvesting techniques, involving new materials, methodology and applications. The continuous research on piezoelectric materials, will enable a new generation of energy harvesters, that take advantage from a large variety of sources from vibration nature, factories or transportation means, to the human body, being the latter one of the most interesting source of mechanical energy to harvest.

Many of the literature used in this review, was selected with the intention of cover a general aspect of the energy harvesting by piezoelectric materials, and where is the current status of the application in the different areas such as transportation, body movement or smart home.

References

- ¹N. Sezer and M. Koç, "A comprehensive review on the state-of-the-art of piezoelectric energy harvesting," *Nano Energy*, vol. 80, p. 105567, 2021.
- ²H. Liu, J. Zhong, C. Lee, S.-W. Lee, and L. Lin, "A comprehensive review on piezoelectric energy harvesting technology: Materials, mechanisms, and applications," *Applied Physics Reviews*, vol. 5, no. 4, p. 041306, 2018.
- ³S. S. Won, H. Seo, M. Kawahara, S. Glinsek, J. Lee, Y. Kim, C. K. Jeong, A. I. Kingon, and S.-H. Kim, "Flexible vibrational energy harvesting devices using strain-engineered perovskite piezoelectric thin films," *Nano Energy*, vol. 55, pp. 182–192, 2019.
- ⁴J. Chen, S. K. Oh, N. Nabulsi, H. Johnson, W. Wang, and J.-H. Ryou, "Biocompatible and sustainable power supply for self-powered wearable and implantable electronics using iii-nitride thin-film-based flexible piezoelectric generator," *Nano Energy*, vol. 57, pp. 670–679, 2019.
- ⁵H. S. Kim, J.-H. Kim, and J. Kim, "A review of piezoelectric energy harvesting based on vibration," *International journal of precision engineering and manufacturing*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 1129–1141, 2011.
- ⁶A. Erturk and D. J. Inman, *Piezoelectric energy harvesting*. John Wiley & Sons, 2011.
- ⁷Z. L. Wang, "Towards self-powered nanosystems: from nanogenerators to nanopiezotronics," *Advanced Functional Materials*, vol. 18, no. 22, pp. 3553–3567, 2008.
- ⁸C. Covaci and A. Gontean, "Piezoelectric energy harvesting solutions: A review," *Sensors*, vol. 20, no. 12, p. 3512, 2020.
- ⁹S. Sudevalayam and P. Kulkarni, "Energy harvesting sensor nodes: Survey and implications," *IEEE communications surveys & tutorials*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 443–461, 2010.
- ¹⁰R. Caliò, U. B. Rongala, D. Camboni, M. Milazzo, C. Stefanini, G. De Petris, and C. M. Oddo, "Piezoelectric energy harvesting solutions," *Sensors*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 4755–4790, 2014.
- ¹¹J. Y. Cho, K.-B. Kim, W. S. Hwang, C. H. Yang, J. H. Ahn, S. Do Hong, D. H. Jeon, G. J. Song, C. H. Ryu, S. B. Woo, *et al.*, "A multifunctional road-compatible piezoelectric energy harvester for autonomous driverassist led indicators with a self-monitoring system," *Applied Energy*, vol. 242, pp. 294–301, 2019.
- ¹²B. Maamer, A. Boughamoura, A. M. F. El-Bab, L. A. Francis, and F. Tounsi, "A review on design improvements and techniques for mechanical energy harvesting using piezoelectric and electromagnetic schemes," *Energy Conversion and Management*, vol. 199, p. 111973, 2019.
- ¹³Q. Lu, L. Liu, F. Scarpa, J. Leng, and Y. Liu, "A novel composite multilayer piezoelectric energy harvester," *Composite Structures*, vol. 201, pp. 121–130, 2018.
- ¹⁴A. Khaligh, P. Zeng, and C. Zheng, "Kinetic energy harvesting using piezoelectric and electromagnetic technologies—state of the art," *IEEE transactions on industrial electronics*, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 850–860, 2009.
- ¹⁵P. D. Mitcheson, T. C. Green, E. M. Yeatman, and A. S. Holmes, "Architectures for vibration-driven micropower generators," *Journal of microelectromechanical systems*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 429–440, 2004.
- ¹⁶M. Rezaeisaray, M. El Gowini, D. Sameoto, D. Raboud, and W. Moussa, "Low frequency piezoelectric energy harvesting at multi vibration mode shapes," *Sensors and Actuators A: Physical*, vol. 228, pp. 104–111, 2015.
- ¹⁷W. Wang, J. Cao, N. Zhang, J. Lin, and W.-H. Liao, "Magnetic-spring based energy harvesting from human motions: design, modeling and experiments," *Energy Conversion and Management*, vol. 132, pp. 189–197, 2017.
- ¹⁸T. Yildirim, M. H. Ghayesh, W. Li, and G. Alici, "A review on perfor-

mance enhancement techniques for ambient vibration energy harvesters," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 71, pp. 435–449, 2017.

- ¹⁹E. Maghsoudi Nia, N. Wan Abdullah Zawawi, and B. Mahinder Singh, "Design of a pavement using piezoelectric materials," *Materialwissenschaft und Werkstofftechnik*, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 320–328, 2019.
- ²⁰D. Zhu and S. Beeby, "Kinetic energy harvesting," in *Energy harvesting systems*, pp. 1–77, Springer, 2011.
- ²¹B. V. De Almeida and R. Pavanello, "Topology optimization of the thickness profile of bimorph piezoelectric energy harvesting devices," *Journal* of Applied and Computational Mechanics, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 113–127, 2019.
- ²²J. Briscoe and S. Dunn, "Piezoelectricity and ferroelectricity," in *Nanos-tructured Piezoelectric Energy Harvesters*, pp. 3–17, Springer, 2014.
- ²³A. Jain and J. PK, "A. jain, and rpn 2015. dielectric and piezoelectric properties of pvdf/pzt composites: A review," *Polymer Engineering & Science*, vol. 55, no. 7, pp. 1589–616, 2015.
- ²⁴D. B. Deutz, J.-A. Pascoe, B. Schelen, S. Van Der Zwaag, D. M. De Leeuw, and P. Groen, "Analysis and experimental validation of the figure of merit for piezoelectric energy harvesters," *Materials Horizons*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 444–453, 2018.
- ²⁵J. Siang, M. Lim, and M. Salman Leong, "Review of vibration-based energy harvesting technology: Mechanism and architectural approach," *International Journal of Energy Research*, vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 1866–1893, 2018.
- ²⁶S. Mishra, L. Unnikrishnan, S. K. Nayak, and S. Mohanty, "Advances in piezoelectric polymer composites for energy harvesting applications: a systematic review," *Macromolecular Materials and Engineering*, vol. 304, no. 1, p. 1800463, 2019.
- ²⁷J. Pei, F. Guo, J. Zhang, B. Zhou, Y. Bi, and R. Li, "Review and analysis of energy harvesting technologies in roadway transportation," *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 288, p. 125338, 2021.
- ²⁸K. Uchino and T. Ishii, "Energy flow analysis in piezoelectric energy harvesting systems," *Ferroelectrics*, vol. 400, no. 1, pp. 305–320, 2010.
- ²⁹H. Wei, H. Wang, Y. Xia, D. Cui, Y. Shi, M. Dong, C. Liu, T. Ding, J. Zhang, Y. Ma, *et al.*, "An overview of lead-free piezoelectric materials and devices," *Journal of Materials Chemistry C*, vol. 6, no. 46, pp. 12446– 12467, 2018.
- ³⁰A. Aabid, M. A. Raheman, Y. E. Ibrahim, A. Anjum, M. Hrairi, B. Parveez, N. Parveen, and J. Mohammed Zayan, "A systematic review of piezoelectric materials and energy harvesters for industrial applications," *Sensors*, vol. 21, no. 12, p. 4145, 2021.
- ³¹T.-H. Ng and W.-H. Liao, "Feasibility study of a self-powered piezoelectric sensor," in *Smart structures and materials 2004: Smart electronics*, *MEMS, BioMEMS, and nanotechnology*, vol. 5389, pp. 377–388, SPIE, 2004.
- ³²J. W. Yi, W. Y. Shih, and W.-H. Shih, "Effect of length, width, and mode on the mass detection sensitivity of piezoelectric unimorph cantilevers," *Journal of applied physics*, vol. 91, no. 3, pp. 1680–1686, 2002.
- ³³G. R. Prakash, K. V. Swamy, S. Huddar, B. Sheeparamatti, and K. BB, "Study of effect on resonance frequency of piezoelectric unimorph cantilever for energy harvesting," *sspp*, vol. 2, no. 3, p. 4, 2012.
- ³⁴S. Ben Ayed, A. Abdelkefi, F. Najar, and M. R. Hajj, "Design and performance of variable-shaped piezoelectric energy harvesters," *Journal of Intelligent Material Systems and Structures*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 174–186, 2014.
- ³⁵H. Li, C. Tian, and Z. D. Deng, "Energy harvesting from low frequency applications using piezoelectric materials," *Applied physics reviews*, vol. 1, no. 4, p. 041301, 2014.
- ³⁶J. Yang et al., An introduction to the theory of piezoelectricity, vol. 9. Springer, 2005.
- ³⁷F. Ali, W. Raza, X. Li, H. Gul, and K.-H. Kim, "Piezoelectric energy harvesters for biomedical applications," *Nano Energy*, vol. 57, pp. 879–902, 2019.
- ³⁸S. Priya, H.-C. Song, Y. Zhou, R. Varghese, A. Chopra, S.-G. Kim, I. Kanno, L. Wu, D. S. Ha, J. Ryu, *et al.*, "A review on piezoelectric energy harvesting: materials, methods, and circuits," *Energy Harvesting and Systems*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 3–39, 2017.
- ³⁹D. Vatansever, R. Hadimani, T. Shah, and E. Siores, "An investigation of energy harvesting from renewable sources with pvdf and pzt," *Smart Materials and Structures*, vol. 20, no. 5, p. 055019, 2011.

- ⁴⁰S. R. Anton and H. A. Sodano, "A review of power harvesting using piezoelectric materials (2003–2006)," *Smart materials and Structures*, vol. 16, no. 3, p. R1, 2007.
- ⁴¹T. Vijayakanth, D. J. Liptrot, E. Gazit, R. Boomishankar, and C. R. Bowen, "Recent advances in organic and organic-inorganic hybrid materials for piezoelectric mechanical energy harvesting," *Advanced Functional Materials*, p. 2109492, 2022.
- ⁴²S. B. Lang and S. Muensit, "Review of some lesser-known applications of piezoelectric and pyroelectric polymers," *Applied Physics A*, vol. 85, no. 2, pp. 125–134, 2006.
- ⁴³S. I. Stupp and L. C. Palmer, "Supramolecular chemistry and self-assembly in organic materials design," *Chemistry of Materials*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 507–518, 2014.
- ⁴⁴M. Smith and S. Kar-Narayan, "Piezoelectric polymers: Theory, challenges and opportunities," *International Materials Reviews*, vol. 67, no. 1, pp. 65–88, 2022.
- ⁴⁵P. Costa, J. Nunes-Pereira, N. Pereira, N. Castro, S. Gonçalves, and S. Lanceros-Mendez, "Recent progress on piezoelectric, pyroelectric, and magnetoelectric polymer-based energy-harvesting devices," *Energy technology*, vol. 7, no. 7, p. 1800852, 2019.
- ⁴⁶X. Wang, "Piezoelectric nanogenerators—harvesting ambient mechanical energy at the nanometer scale," *Nano Energy*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 13–24, 2012.
- ⁴⁷C. Dagdeviren, P. Joe, O. L. Tuzman, K.-I. Park, K. J. Lee, Y. Shi, Y. Huang, and J. A. Rogers, "Recent progress in flexible and stretchable piezoelectric devices for mechanical energy harvesting, sensing and actuation," *Extreme mechanics letters*, vol. 9, pp. 269–281, 2016.
- ⁴⁸J. Hao, W. Li, J. Zhai, and H. Chen, "Progress in high-strain perovskite piezoelectric ceramics," *Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports*, vol. 135, pp. 1–57, 2019.
- ⁴⁹H. Park, C. Ha, and J.-H. Lee, "Advances in piezoelectric halide perovskites for energy harvesting applications," *Journal of Materials Chemistry A*, vol. 8, no. 46, pp. 24353–24367, 2020.
- ⁵⁰H. Takahashi, Y. Numamoto, J. Tani, K. Matsuta, J. Qiu, and S. Tsurekawa, "Lead-free barium titanate ceramics with large piezoelectric constant fabricated by microwave sintering," *Japanese journal of applied physics*, vol. 45, no. 1L, p. L30, 2005.
- ⁵¹R. J. Vullers, R. Van Schaijk, H. J. Visser, J. Penders, and C. Van Hoof, "Energy harvesting for autonomous wireless sensor networks," *IEEE Solid-State Circuits Magazine*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 29–38, 2010.
- ⁵²J. Fu, Y. Hou, X. Gao, M. Zheng, and M. Zhu, "Highly durable piezoelectric energy harvester based on a pvdf flexible nanocomposite filled with oriented bati205 nanorods with high power density," *Nano Energy*, vol. 52, pp. 391–401, 2018.
- ⁵³L. Yang, S. Chi, S. Dong, F. Yuan, Z. Wang, J. Lei, L. Bao, J. Xiang, and J. Wang, "Preparation and characterization of a novel piezoelectric nanogenerator based on soluble and meltable copolyimide for harvesting mechanical energy," *Nano Energy*, vol. 67, p. 104220, 2020.
- ⁵⁴S. Ye, C. Cheng, X. Chen, X. Chen, J. Shao, J. Zhang, H. Hu, H. Tian, X. Li, L. Ma, *et al.*, "High-performance piezoelectric nanogenerator based on microstructured p (vdf-trfe)/bnnts composite for energy harvesting and radiation protection in space," *Nano Energy*, vol. 60, pp. 701–714, 2019.
- ⁵⁵D.-J. Shin, S.-J. Jeong, C.-E. Seo, K.-H. Cho, and J.-H. Koh, "Multilayered piezoelectric energy harvesters based on pzt ceramic actuators," *Ceramics international*, vol. 41, pp. S686–S690, 2015.
- ⁵⁶W. Harrison, "Flexible piezoelectric organic composites," in *Proceedings* of the Workshop on Sonar Transducer Materials, pp. 257–268, Office of Naval Research, 1976.
- ⁵⁷S. Siddiqui, D.-I. Kim, M. T. Nguyen, S. Muhammad, W.-S. Yoon, N.-E. Lee, *et al.*, "High-performance flexible lead-free nanocomposite piezoelectric nanogenerator for biomechanical energy harvesting and storage," *Nano Energy*, vol. 15, pp. 177–185, 2015.
- ⁵⁸Y. Zhang, C. K. Jeong, T. Yang, H. Sun, L.-Q. Chen, S. Zhang, W. Chen, and Q. Wang, "Bioinspired elastic piezoelectric composites for highperformance mechanical energy harvesting," *Journal of Materials Chemistry A*, vol. 6, no. 30, pp. 14546–14552, 2018.
- ⁵⁹Q. Zheng, H. Zhang, H. Mi, Z. Cai, Z. Ma, and S. Gong, "Highperformance flexible piezoelectric nanogenerators consisting of porous cellulose nanofibril (cnf)/poly (dimethylsiloxane)(pdms) aerogel films," *Nano Energy*, vol. 26, pp. 504–512, 2016.

- ⁶⁰S. K. Karan, S. Maiti, S. Paria, A. Maitra, S. K. Si, J. K. Kim, and B. B. Khatua, "A new insight towards eggshell membrane as high energy conversion efficient bio-piezoelectric energy harvester," *Materials today energy*, vol. 9, pp. 114–125, 2018.
- ⁶¹R. Li, Y. Yu, B. Zhou, Q. Guo, M. Li, and J. Pei, "Harvesting energy from pavement based on piezoelectric effects: Fabrication and electric properties of piezoelectric vibrator," *Journal of Renewable and Sustainable Energy*, vol. 10, no. 5, p. 054701, 2018.
- ⁶²A. Moure, M. I. Rodríguez, S. H. Rueda, A. Gonzalo, F. Rubio-Marcos, D. U. Cuadros, A. Pérez-Lepe, and J. Fernández, "Feasible integration in asphalt of piezoelectric cymbals for vibration energy harvesting," *Energy Conversion and Management*, vol. 112, pp. 246–253, 2016.
- ⁶³X. Jiang, Y. Li, J. Wang, and J. Li, "Electromechanical modeling and experimental analysis of a compression-based piezoelectric vibration energy harvester," *International Journal of Smart and Nano Materials*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 152–168, 2014.
- ⁶⁴C. Wang, Z. Song, Z. Gao, G. Yu, and S. Wang, "Preparation and performance research of stacked piezoelectric energy-harvesting units for pavements," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 183, pp. 581–591, 2019.
- ⁶⁵H. Chua, B. Kok, and H. Goh, "Modelling and design analyses of a piezoelectric cymbal transducer (pct) structure for energy harvesting application," *Energy and Sustainability V*, vol. 186, p. 103, 2014.
- ⁶⁶A. F. Jasim, H. Wang, G. Yesner, A. Safari, and P. Szary, "Performance analysis of piezoelectric energy harvesting in pavement: laboratory testing and field simulation," *Transportation Research Record*, vol. 2673, no. 3, pp. 115–124, 2019.
- ⁶⁷W. Hendrowati, H. L. Guntur, and I. N. Sutantra, "Design, modeling and analysis of implementing a multilayer piezoelectric vibration energy harvesting mechanism in the vehicle suspension," 2012.
- ⁶⁸M. Gao, P. Wang, Y. Cao, R. Chen, and C. Liu, "A rail-borne piezoelectric transducer for energy harvesting of railway vibration," *Journal of vibroengineering*, vol. 18, no. 7, pp. 4647–4663, 2016.
- ⁶⁹N. Bosso, M. Magelli, and N. Zampieri, "Application of low-power energy harvesting solutions in the railway field: a review," *Vehicle System Dynamics*, vol. 59, no. 6, pp. 841–871, 2021.
- ⁷⁰M. Karimi, A. Karimi, R. Tikani, and S. Ziaei-Rad, "Experimental and theoretical investigations on piezoelectric-based energy harvesting from bridge vibrations under travelling vehicles," *International Journal of Mechanical Sciences*, vol. 119, pp. 1–11, 2016.
- ⁷¹H. Wang, A. Jasim, and X. Chen, "Energy harvesting technologies in roadway and bridge for different applications–a comprehensive review," *Applied energy*, vol. 212, pp. 1083–1094, 2018.
- ⁷²N. Chen, H. J. Jung, H. Jabbar, T. H. Sung, and T. Wei, "A piezoelectric impact-induced vibration cantilever energy harvester from speed bump with a low-power power management circuit," *Sensors and Actuators A: Physical*, vol. 254, pp. 134–144, 2017.
- ⁷³G. del Castillo-García, E. Blanco-Fernandez, P. Pascual-Muñoz, and D. Castro-Fresno, "Energy harvesting from vehicular traffic over speed bumps: A review," *Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers– Energy*, vol. 171, no. 2, pp. 58–69, 2018.
- ⁷⁴X. Xie and Q. Wang, "Energy harvesting from a vehicle suspension system," *Energy*, vol. 86, pp. 385–392, 2015.
- ⁷⁵G. Kim, "Piezoelectric energy harvesting from torsional vibration in internal combustion engines," *International Journal of Automotive Technology*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 645–651, 2015.
- ⁷⁶J. Lee, J. Oh, H. Kim, and B. Choi, "Strain-based piezoelectric energy harvesting for wireless sensor systems in a tire," *Journal of Intelligent Material Systems and Structures*, vol. 26, no. 11, pp. 1404–1416, 2015.
- ⁷⁷R. Esmaeeli, H. Aliniagerdroudbari, S. R. Hashemi, A. Nazari, M. Alhadri, W. Zakri, A. H. Mohammed, C. Batur, and S. Farhad, "A rainbow piezoelectric energy harvesting system for intelligent tire monitoring applications," *Journal of Energy Resources Technology*, vol. 141, no. 6, 2019.
- ⁷⁸J. Lee and B. Choi, "Development of a piezoelectric energy harvesting system for implementing wireless sensors on the tires," *Energy conversion* and management, vol. 78, pp. 32–38, 2014.
- ⁷⁹K. Adendorff, R. Naidoo, A. Jimoh, D. Okojie, *et al.*, "A hybrid piezoelectric micro-power generator for use in low power applications," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 49, pp. 1136–1144, 2015.
- ⁸⁰M. A. Abdelkareem, L. Xu, M. K. A. Ali, A. Elagouz, J. Mi, S. Guo, Y. Liu, and L. Zuo, "Vibration energy harvesting in automotive suspension

system: A detailed review," Applied energy, vol. 229, pp. 672-699, 2018.

- ⁸¹J. Tao, N. Viet, A. Carpinteri, and Q. Wang, "Energy harvesting from wind by a piezoelectric harvester," *Engineering Structures*, vol. 133, pp. 74–80, 2017.
- ⁸²J. Zhang, Z. Fang, C. Shu, J. Zhang, Q. Zhang, and C. Li, "A rotational piezoelectric energy harvester for efficient wind energy harvesting," *Sensors and Actuators A: Physical*, vol. 262, pp. 123–129, 2017.
- ⁸³N. Wu, Q. Wang, and X. Xie, "Wind energy harvesting with a piezoelectric harvester," *Smart Materials and Structures*, vol. 22, no. 9, p. 095023, 2013.
- ⁸⁴X. Xie, N. Wu, K. V. Yuen, and Q. Wang, "Energy harvesting from highrise buildings by a piezoelectric coupled cantilever with a proof mass," *International Journal of Engineering Science*, vol. 72, pp. 98–106, 2013.
- ⁸⁵F. Petrini and K. Gkoumas, "Piezoelectric energy harvesting from vortex shedding and galloping induced vibrations inside hvac ducts," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 158, pp. 371–383, 2018.
- ⁸⁶L. Zhao and Y. Yang, "On the modeling methods of small-scale piezoelectric wind energy harvesting," *Smart Structures and Systems*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 67–90, 2017.
- ⁸⁷D.-A. Wang and N.-Z. Liu, "A shear mode piezoelectric energy harvester based on a pressurized water flow," *Sensors and actuators A: Physical*, vol. 167, no. 2, pp. 449–458, 2011.
- ⁸⁸S. F. Nabavi, A. Farshidianfar, A. Afsharfard, and H. H. Khodaparast, "An ocean wave-based piezoelectric energy harvesting system using breaking wave force," *International Journal of Mechanical Sciences*, vol. 151, pp. 498–507, 2019.
- ⁸⁹Y. Cha, W. Chae, H. Kim, H. Walcott, S. D. Peterson, and M. Porfiri, "Energy harvesting from a piezoelectric biomimetic fish tail," *Renewable Energy*, vol. 86, pp. 449–458, 2016.
- ⁹⁰N. Viet, X. Xie, K. Liew, N. Banthia, and Q. Wang, "Energy harvesting from ocean waves by a floating energy harvester," *Energy*, vol. 112, pp. 1219–1226, 2016.
- ⁹¹C. Puscasu, N. Counsell, M. R. Herfatmanesh, R. Peace, J. Patsavellas, and R. Day, "Powering lights with piezoelectric energy-harvesting floors," *energy technology*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 906–916, 2018.
- ⁹²C. M. Lopes and C. A. Gallo, "A review of piezoelectrical energy harvesting and applications," in 2014 IEEE 23rd International Symposium on Industrial Electronics (ISIE), pp. 1284–1288, IEEE, 2014.
- ⁹³K.-B. Kim, J. Y. Cho, H. Jabbar, J. H. Ahn, S. Do Hong, S. B. Woo, and T. H. Sung, "Optimized composite piezoelectric energy harvesting floor tile for smart home energy management," *Energy Conversion and Management*, vol. 171, pp. 31–37, 2018.
- ⁹⁴J. L. González, A. Rubio, and F. Moll, "Human powered piezoelectric batteries to supply power to wearable electronic devices," *International journal of the Society of Materials Engineering for Resources*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 34–40, 2002.
- ⁹⁵J. Zhao and Z. You, "A shoe-embedded piezoelectric energy harvester for wearable sensors," *Sensors*, vol. 14, no. 7, pp. 12497–12510, 2014.
- ⁹⁶R. T. Aljadiri, L. Y. Taha, and P. Ivey, "Electrostatic energy harvesting systems: a better understanding of their sustainability," *Journal of Clean*

Energy Technologies, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 409-416, 2017.

- ⁹⁷M. Pozzi and M. Zhu, "Characterization of a rotary piezoelectric energy harvester based on plucking excitation for knee-joint wearable applications," *Smart Materials and Structures*, vol. 21, no. 5, p. 055004, 2012.
- ⁹⁸I. Izadgoshasb, Y. Y. Lim, N. Lake, L. Tang, R. V. Padilla, and T. Kashiwao, "Optimizing orientation of piezoelectric cantilever beam for harvesting energy from human walking," *Energy conversion and management*, vol. 161, pp. 66–73, 2018.
- ⁹⁹K.-B. Kim, W. Jang, J. Y. Cho, S. B. Woo, D. H. Jeon, J. H. Ahn, S. Do Hong, H. Y. Koo, and T. H. Sung, "Transparent and flexible piezoelectric sensor for detecting human movement with a boron nitride nanosheet (bnns)," *Nano Energy*, vol. 54, pp. 91–98, 2018.
- ¹⁰⁰Y. Liu, H. Khanbareh, M. A. Halim, A. Feeney, X. Zhang, H. Heidari, and R. Ghannam, "Piezoelectric energy harvesting for self-powered wearable upper limb applications," *Nano Select*, vol. 2, no. 8, pp. 1459–1479, 2021.
- ¹⁰¹T. Starner, "Human-powered wearable computing," *IBM systems Journal*, vol. 35, no. 3.4, pp. 618–629, 1996.
- ¹⁰²F. Qian, T.-B. Xu, and L. Zuo, "Piezoelectric energy harvesting from human walking using a two-stage amplification mechanism," *Energy*, vol. 189, p. 116140, 2019.
- ¹⁰³K. Li, Q. He, J. Wang, Z. Zhou, and X. Li, "Wearable energy harvesters
- generating electricity from low-frequency human limb movement," *Microsystems & nanoengineering*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 1–13, 2018.
- ¹⁰⁴H. G. Yeo, T. Xue, S. Roundy, X. Ma, C. Rahn, and S. Trolier-McKinstry, "Strongly (001) oriented bimorph pzt film on metal foils grown by rf-sputtering for wrist-worn piezoelectric energy harvesters," *Advanced Functional Materials*, vol. 28, no. 36, p. 1801327, 2018.
- ¹⁰⁵L. Zhao, H. Li, J. Meng, and Z. Li, "The recent advances in self-powered medical information sensors," *InfoMat*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 212–234, 2020.
- ¹⁰⁶L. Dong, A. B. Closson, M. Oglesby, D. Escobedo, X. Han, Y. Nie, S. Huang, M. D. Feldman, Z. Chen, and J. X. Zhang, "In vivo cardiac power generation enabled by an integrated helical piezoelectric pacemaker lead," *Nano Energy*, vol. 66, p. 104085, 2019.
- ¹⁰⁷H. Zhang, X.-S. Zhang, X. Cheng, Y. Liu, M. Han, X. Xue, S. Wang, F. Yang, A. Smitha, H. Zhang, *et al.*, "A flexible and implantable piezoelectric generator harvesting energy from the pulsation of ascending aorta: in vitro and in vivo studies," *Nano Energy*, vol. 12, pp. 296–304, 2015.
- ¹⁰⁸A. H. Rajabi, M. Jaffe, and T. L. Arinzeh, "Piezoelectric materials for tissue regeneration: A review," *Acta biomaterialia*, vol. 24, pp. 12–23, 2015.
- ¹⁰⁹M. Ansari and M. A. Karami, "Piezoelectric energy harvesting from heartbeat vibrations for leadless pacemakers," in *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, vol. 660, p. 012121, IOP Publishing, 2015.
- ¹¹⁰M. N. Hasan, S. Sahlan, K. Osman, and M. S. Mohamed Ali, "Energy harvesters for wearable electronics and biomedical devices," *Advanced Materials Technologies*, vol. 6, no. 3, p. 2000771, 2021.
- ¹¹¹Y.-H. Zhang, C.-H. Lee, and X.-R. Zhang, "A novel piezoelectric power generator integrated with a compliant energy storage mechanism," *Journal* of Physics D: Applied Physics, vol. 52, no. 45, p. 455501, 2019.